IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| RICHARD TODD ROBARDS, | : |
|-----------------------|---|
| Appellant, | : |
| vs. | : |
| STATE OF FLORIDA, | : |
| Appellee. | : |
| | : |

Case No. SC11-0425

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Pretrial

Appellant, RICHARD TODD ROBARDS, was charged by indictment in Pinellas County with first degree murder of Linda Deluca (Count One) and Frank Deluca (Count Two). Appellant was a personal trainer and the Delucas - - a married couple age 59 and 60 - were clients whom he had trained in their home. The prosecution theory was that appellant had entered the Delucas' Clearwater residence on July 31 or August 1, 2006 with the intention of stealing a safe which was kept in a spare bedroom, and during the course of events stabbed the Delucas to death (1/12-13, see 3-6).

The defense filed a suggestion of incompetency to proceed (1/14-16), and a competency hearing was held on August 10, 2007. Dr. Robert Berland, a forensic psychologist, expressed the opinion that appellant suffers from "a biologically determined mental illness, a psychotic disturbance" involving hallucinations, mood disturbance, and delusional paranoid thinking (SR104-05,see 106-09,117). Dr. Michael Maher, a clinical and forensic psychiatrist, concluded that "there is substantial evidence that [appellant] suffers from a delusional disorder of a chronic nature which includes chronic symptoms of psychosis and irrational thinking processes" (SR157-58) Both Dr. Berland and Dr. Maher believed that brain injury as a result of a series of head traumas, and abuse of anabolic steroids, were significant causative factors in appellant's psychotic mental state (SR107-08,159-60). While Berland and Maher both acknowledged that appellant is manipulative and has

sociopathic attributes (which are not inconsistent with the underlying psychosis) (SR149,151,164), both doctors were also of the opinion that appellant was presently incompetent to stand trial due to his mental illness (SR116-19,151,158-161). Dr. Maher believed that appellant "is likely to require specific court order or other forced treatment of medications in order to address his illness, and I suspect he will consistently and stubbornly resist treatment" (SR162). Dr. Maher thought it was likely that appellant's competency could be restored (at least to the realistic and genuine satisfaction of some examiners) by using medications, though it was somewhat speculative how much his underlying mental state would improve (SR162).

Drs. Berland and Maher were asked about appellant's belief (shared by organized fringe groups) that he is a "sovereign man" and therefore not subject to the jurisdiction of the court. Dr. Berland replied, "I would be more concerned with whether it was solely the result of his mental illness or in part the result of manipulativeness"; the existence of a large group that shares these beliefs does not necessarily mean that they aren't mentally ill beliefs "either in all cases or certainly in his case" (SR119-20). Dr. Maher was asked whether appellant's <u>pro se</u> filings on the issue of sovereignty could be interpreted as litigiousness; he replied, "well, that and a good dose of mania, which is what you see as a by-product of psychosis related to steroids. They may become paranoids and they become manics most commonly" (SR147). The hyper-religious themes, including being visited in his cell by Yahweh and "Yeshiva" (sic)[this may be an error by counsel or the

court reporter; appellant may have been referring to Yeshua, a Hebrew name for Jesus] "at least [raise] the possibility of some sort of visual and auditory hallucinations" (SR147).

Dr. Berland and Dr. Maher were each asked on cross about appellant's efforts to obtain a private attorney to represent him, in the "unlikely prospect" (as Berland put it) that his mother could raise the needed funds (SR137-38,168,171-72).

MR. SCHAUB (prosecutor): And are you aware that in this particular case he has attempted to do everything possible, whether it's unrealistic or not, but he's done everything possible to get his mom motivated to raise money to hire a private lawyer?

DR. MAHER: I am aware of that.

Q: Okay. Don't you think then he understands at least in his mind that he needs the biggest - - and we're talking about - - we're talking about in this case Barry Cohen, John Fitzgibbons, Mr. Kuske - - that he believes that in order to do well in this adversarial process you have to spend money and have a hired gun to represent you?

A: Yes, I think he believes that.

Q: Okay. That's not an unfair belief it you listen to the media, correct?

A: I wouldn't consider that an unfair or irrational belief. (SR171-72)

Dr. Darren Rothschild, a forensic psychiatrist, was courtappointed and called by the state (SR179-81). Dr. Rothschild acknowledged that appellant had some paranoid thoughts, and there was "some possibility that...he's psychotic or he's delusional, but I can't say that with certainty" (SR202). Dr. Rothschild suspected that appellant was competent to stand trial, but he could not reach that conclusion with reasonable medical certainty (SR181,211,230-32). Appellant was largely uncommunicative with Dr.

Rothschild, threatening him with a trademark violation if he used his given name, and insisting that he instead be called "secured party creditor" (SR183,191-92,204-05,226). Appellant espoused an extreme separatist, anti-government, anti-tax, evangelical Christian-based ideology (SR184-89). After listening to audiotapes in which appellant urged his mother to read materials on a website promoting those views, Dr. Rothschild obtained a document called "The Redemption Manual"; essentially a "how-to" guide for implementing their beliefs (SR184-85,188,249;see14/2198-2314,2316).

While appellant was preoccupied by his separatist ideology, Dr. Rothschild did not think his beliefs were delusional, but more likely a perceived way to deal with his legal problems (SR208, 210). According to the doctor, appellant wanted a high-powered private attorney "who would spend a lot of money on experts and try and prove he didn't do this", and when that wasn't forthcoming "is when he diverted towards this redemption process" (SR209,see 184,206-09). Appellant was contemptuous and angry toward his public defenders; he provided them with a document which "disavowed him from any involvement or affiliations with" the United States, Florida, and Pinellas County governments as well as the State Attorney, Public Defender, and judges (SR184).

Appellant's mother provided some limited background information from his childhood; he was picked on and bullied by his older half-brothers, and then he got involved with bodybuilding and steroids (SR189-90). His mother also talked about his having sustained multiple head injuries, most recently in 2003, but she did not observe any major behavioral changes following those

injuries (SR190)

Dr. Rothschild testified that appellant's defense attorneys had raised the question of mental illness with him, and appellant made it very clear that he does not believe he is mentally ill; he does not want to be "found crazy"; and above all he does not want to be medicated; "He's afraid they're going to pump him full of Thorazine" (SR195-96,213,229). Appellant "personally is not bothered by any of the purported things that people think he has in terms of delusional thinking or hallucinations" (SR196). His only complaints to physicians in the jail were of sleeplessness and depression; he never reported hearing voices nor made any outlandish claims (SR196). However, Dr. Rothschild wanted to make it clear that "when someone says they're not mentally ill doesn't mean that they're not - - people with delusions [or] psychosis often have no insight into the fact that they're psychotic or delusional" (SR196).

The trial judge, Joseph A. Bulone, found appellant incompetent to proceed due to his mental illness, and committed him for mental health treatment. (1/93-95;see SR 274).

Six months later the state hospital reported that appellant was now competent to proceed and no longer met the criteria for continued involuntary commitment (SR274). On April 10, May 8, and May 16, 2008 a trifurcated competency hearing was held. Kimberly McCollum, a psychological resident¹ at the hospital, made the determination (in combination with her supervisor Dr. D'Agostino)

¹ Ms. McCollum had completed the requirements for a doctorate but had not yet received the degree (SR348,386).

that appellant was malingering and he was competent to stand trial (SR345-49,367-72,382-83,389,422-23,425). This conclusion was based in part on appellant's escape attempt (in which he enlisted the aid of a hospital employee), and the fact that he was uncooperative, or selectively uncooperative, with the staff (SR355-68). Appellant would attend weightlifting class, work out in his room, and interact appropriately with other patients, but he didn't want to talk about his charges or communicate with the treatment team (SR355-62,368,370-71,382). He deflected inquiries by making what Ms. McCollum considered vague statements about God and sovereignty (SR351,353,391,424).

Neither she nor the hospital psychiatrists observed any overt psychosis, hallucinations, or delusional ideation on appellant's part, so they concluded that medication was unnecessary and unwarranted (SR383,390-91). Ms. McCollum was asked on cross whether psychotic individuals always demonstrate overt psychosis; she answered. "No. there can be psychosis occurring that is not observable" (SR390,see 392). Moreover, a person can have a bona fide Axis I diagnosis and still engage in malingering or manipulative behavior (SR391-92).

Just before the second segment of the hearing on May 8 appellant started singing "Amazing Grace", and continued to do so after being asked - - then ordered on threat of being gagged - to stop. He was removed from the courtroom and "the bailiffs have informed me that they have put a mask on the defendant which is really designed to prevent...biting or spitting, and it's not really designed to prevent singing, and I've been told that he is

still singing back there with the mask." The hearing commenced with appellant in the mask, but it was removed after half an hour without further incident (SR447-49,454-55,462,482;see SR1022; 23/3603-04,3631-36).

Doctor Jill Poorman was the Adult Court Psychologist in the Pinellas County Criminal Justice Center (SR464). Dr. Poorman attempted unsuccessfully to evaluate appellant, who was upset with her because she wouldn't acknowledge whether or not she was a believer; he wouldn't talk to her if she wasn't a believer (SR469,494-95). She spent about five minutes with him and most of what he said was about Jesus (SR470,495).

Dr. Poorman reviewed the reports from the state hospital, and based on that and her own observations she formed the opinion that appellant was malingering, and that he was competent if he chose to be (SR471-72,480-484-85). In reaching this conclusion she found the reported escape attempt significant, as was appellant's participation in weight training and his interaction with staff (SR471-77,496-502,507-08). She noted that no psychotropic medications were prescribed for appellant, either in the hospital or the county jail, because the doctors there had concluded that he was not psychotic (SR4787-78,500,508). Dr. Poorman was aware of appellant's long-term steroid abuse, which can have permanent effects and can contribute to mental illness (SR477-78,487-88). Also, head injuries (which she was also satisfied had happened to appellant) can cause mental problems, and in fact is one of the main causes (SR488). It was fair to say that appellant was religiously preoccupied, which is "absolutely" sometimes seen with

people that are mentally ill (SR495-96). Dr. Poorman acknowledged that people who are genuinely psychotic do not necessarily look psychotic to the naked eye (SR496). Also, a person can be genuinely psychotic and still engage in goal-directed behavior, including exaggeration of symptoms (SR496,504). However, when asked by state hospital staff, appellant denied having any hallucinations and denied hearing voices (SR496).

Dr. Robert Berland (who had expressed the opinion in the 2007 competency hearing that appellant was psychotic, delusional, and incompetent to stand trial) interviewed two lay witnesses during the intervening months "just to confirm that his mental illness has a genuine basis" (SR521). While neither of them observed any hallucinations, both "gave me very clear descriptions of actions and statements by [appellant] that indicated delusional paranoid thinking" (SR521). [Both of these witnesses hated appellant and did not want to say anything that would help him, but their answers to Dr. Berland's questions revealed "a variety of paranoid delusional beliefs on [appellant's] part" (SR569)]. It was also significant in terms of brain functioning and mental illness that the witnesses talked about appellant's extensive drug use, including steroids, amphetamines, and pain killers (SR521). Research has shown that anabolic steroids and amphetamines each can cause permanent changes in the brain which can be associated with delusional paranoid thinking (SR521-22). Moreover, steroid use can exacerbate any pre-existing brain damage from head trauma (SR522). Appellant also had a blunted affect, which is a typical accompaniment to psychosis, and he displayed religious preoccupation

(SR550-57). It can be difficult to distinguish between someone who is just sincerely and extremely religious and someone who is mentally ill and experiencing religious delusions, but Dr. Berland thought that some of appellant's stated beliefs (such as that God's plan included him getting a murder charge and sitting in jail so he would have time to read the Bible forward and backward) were a sign of his irrationality (SR551-54). Based on all of these factors as well as the psychological testing he'd done earlier, it continued to be Dr. Berland's opinion that appellant "has a genuine biological mental illness regardless of whatever manipulations he might make subsequent to that" (SR568-69). "[0]nce you have that kind of mental illness, you basically have it for life"; it may wax and wane some, or be temporarily brought under control with medication, but it doesn't go away (SR569).

As was acknowledged by Ms. McCollum and Dr. Poorman (SR391-92,504), Dr. Berland explained "[m]entally ill people can be very manipulative. There is no incompatibility there" (SR554-55). He agreed with the state's experts that appellant was an exaggerator but disagreed that he was a malingerer. For example, there were some exaggerated behaviors (such as the singing) which Dr. Berland thought appellant had to ability to control, but "I don't think it precludes the fact that underneath that disingenuous behavior is some genuine craziness" (SR548).

Dr. Berland was of the opinion that the same mental illness which led him to believe that appellant was incompetent before he went to the hospital was still present, and since "there's been nothing done to change that" he remained incompetent to proceed

(SR567,570). When he gave his opinion in 2007, Dr. Berland believed (and he continued to believe) that appellant could be restored to competency if his delusional thinking were brought under control by psychotropic medication (SR 522-24,546-47,570). In his experience, you cannot talk somebody out of delusional thinking (SR524,546-47). It is not unusual for the state hospital to force an involuntarily committed patient to take medication if he refuses to do it willingly (SR527-28,570). In this case, the doctors and staff at the state hospital concluded (incorrectly in Dr. Berland's opinion) that appellant was not psychotic, and therefore no medications were prescribed or given (SR525,545,574). The failure to medicate appellant was, in Berland's view, "the primary contributing factor" to his continued incompetence to proceed" (SR546). Moreover, medication would have been diagnostic as well as therapeutic; it would have shed light on the question of whether he was psychotic, delusional, and manipulative (as Berland believed) or whether he was entirely faking. If he responded favorably to psychotropic medication that would strongly tend to confirm that he had a genuine mental illness. Conversely, "[r]egular people who are given even minuscule doses of antipsychotic medication are laid out flat by them" (SR561-62).

Judge Bulone, based on the testimony of Ms. McCollum and Dr. Poorman, found that appellant was competent to stand trial (SR634-39;1/105). At the same time, the Public Defender was allowed to withdraw as counsel, based on conflict of interest due to his representation of several potential witnesses (including Shane Harper, who became a key state witness at trial)(1/104;2/106-

08;SR639-44,648-49,657,662). Regional conflict counsel (John Thor White and Stephen Fisher) were then appointed (1/104;2/109; SR648,748). Judge Bulone commented to Mr. White, "So, obviously you're going to have to deal with [appellant's] mental health issues for the potential of a penalty phase" (SR664, see 665).

On October 2, 2008, appellant (as he had done all along and continued to do thereafter) asserted that he was a sovereign private man and challenged the trial court's jurisdiction (and attempted to fire him) (SR712-14,718). Appellant also requested removal of his appointed attorney on the ground that "[h]e's ineffective and refuses to represent me in my private capacity" (SR714-15). After a Nelson inquiry, the judge ruled that Mr. White was providing competent representation and would remain on the case (SR714-18). Two months later, Mr. White moved to withdraw on the ground that appellant's insistence on his sovereignty claim had become "a total barrier to productive attorney-client communications" (3/304-05; see SR749, 756-59). The trial judge denied this motion as well (3/304;SR765). On February 20, 2009, appellant (claiming that it was counsel who was refusing to represent him in any capacity) requested again to dismiss counsel, and to allow self-representation; "[Mr. White] refuses to communicate with me, so... I'm being forced under the Hobson's choice to proceed pro se" (4/489-90, see 499-500). The judge conducted another brief Nelson hearing $(4/506-10, \text{see } 600-01)^2$ and a Faretta inquiry $(4/490-10)^2$

² <u>Nelson v. State</u>, 274 So.2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973), approved in <u>Hardwick v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 1071,1074-75 (Fla. 1988).

98,510-37).³ Although appellant indicated that he would prefer a different lawyer and felt like he was being forced to go pro se, he also stated unequivocally that he chose to represent himself if the only alternative was Mr. White (4/510,534-35,585,600,603,630-31).

The judge appointed Dr. Poorman to assist him in determining whether appellant was mentally competent to decide to waive counsel (as opposed to whether he had the ability to conduct an adequate defense, which the judge recognized is not the proper inquiry)(4/544-48,575-77,603-05,611). Based on Dr. Poorman's testimony, Judge Bulone ruled that appellant does not suffer from a mental illness and was therefore competent to make a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel (4/569,612-18,631). Self-representation was granted, and Mr. White and Mr. Fisher were appointed over appellant's objection as standby counsel (4/569,631-33).

From February to December 2009 appellant was his own attorney. On December 4 a notice of appearance was filed by a Brooksville private lawyer, Larry Hoffman (7/229;SR1095). Appellant's mother had borrowed \$10,000 in order to hire him (7/1229;SR1150-51,1189,1200-01). Since that was all the money that was likely to be forthcoming, Mr. Hoffman requested that Richard Watts, a St. Petersburg lawyer, be appointed at public expense to handle the penalty phase (7/1232,1256;SR1095-96,1101,1109,see 1159). Mr. Hoffman told Judge Bulone "[A]t this point we're ready to go on the 16th of March trial date", and that he had called the prosecu-

³ Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975).

tor who "indicated that he would not be totally opposed to a little continuance if we need to" (SR1096). The judge said, "[W]hatever trial date we have, whether it's March the 16th or whether it's a couple weeks after that, we're going to have a trial on that day. Now I realize you're just on it, but we all have to realize that this is an '06 case, and there have been a lot of different variables in this case which has - -"

MR. SCHAUB (prosecutor): I have seen Mr. Watts prepare for a trial overnight.

THE COURT: Yeah.

MR. HOFFMAN: That's why I want him.

(SR1101-02)

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