IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD TODD ROBARDS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC11-425 L.T. No. CRC 06-18453 CFANO-K DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 14087 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 Stephen.Ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

ISSUE III

APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL JUDGE DEPARTED FROM JUDICIAL NEUTRALITY AND COMMITTED FUNDAMENTAL ERROR BY PROMPTING THE STATE TO ADD AN AGGRAVATING FACTOR IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Appellant asserts that the trial judge departed from his position of judicial neutrality when he gave the prosecutor a "tip" to seek the aggravating factor that Appellant had a previous violent felony conviction based on the contemporaneous murders. On Friday, May 14, 2010, shortly before the trial, the trial court addressed Appellant's renewed motion to compel the State to disclose the aggravating factors. (V9:1489-99). Defense counsel filed his notice of mitigating circumstances and orally indicated that he did not intend to present any mental health mitigation and would present evidence regarding Appellant's family background and employment background. (V9:1480, 1496). The State orally informed the court and also filed a written response indicating that the State would rely on three aggravating factors: (1) the murders were committed while the Defendant was engaged in the commission of, or an attempt to commit, any robbery or burglary; (2) the murders were committed for pecuniary gain; and (3) the murders were especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. (V9:1482, 1493-95). The trial court repeatedly stressed to both sides that they were not bound by

their responses, but urged each side to let the court and opposing counsel know as soon as possible if additional aggravators or mitigators were being sought. (V9:1495, 1496-97). The following exchange between the prosecutor and the court also occurred at the hearing:

THE COURT: Okay. All right. And then the only other question that I had - I really don't want to give the State or defense or anyone any additional ideas. But after I went through the affidavit and the case law on that I thought that another prior aggravating factor may be previous conviction of capital or violent felony because of the alleged contemporaneous murder of the other person.

Are you going to be asking for that one? MR. SCHAUB: I don't know yet. THE COURT: All right. MR. SCHAUB: I'll let you know on that.

THE COURT: All right. And I'm not saying that you should. I'm just saying that, you know, I went through everything, and I was trying to think of what possible aggravating circumstances and mitigating circumstances would be.

(V9:1498-99). On Monday, May 17, 2010, the State filed another notice of aggravating circumstances adding the aggravator that Robards was previously convicted of another capital felony or a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. (V9:1508-09).

Appellant now asserts that the court departed from its position of judicial neutrality by suggesting to the State to seek another aggravator. First, Appellant has not preserved this issue as defense counsel never raised any objection to the State adding this aggravator, nor did counsel file a motion to disqualify the judge based on any alleged improper conduct. Thus, the instant issue is not preserved for appellate review. <u>See McKenzie v. State</u>, 29 So. 3d 272 (Fla. 2010) (holding that defendant's claim that trial judge departed from position of neutrality was unpreserved and procedurally barred for appellate consideration where defendant did not raise objection or file motion to disqualify); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 582 So. 2d 110, 111 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (stating that "in order to preserve for appellate review alleged improprieties of a trial judge, an objection must be made contemporaneously with the prejudicial conduct or comments").

Appellant's attempt to avoid the procedural bar by arguing that the trial judge committed fundamental error is unavailing and without merit. This Court has defined fundamental error "as error that 'reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'" <u>Rimmer</u> <u>v. State</u>, 825 So. 2d 304, 323 (Fla. 2002) (quoting <u>Kilgore v.</u> <u>State</u>, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1996)). As the Fourth District Court of Appeal stated in <u>Mathew v. State</u>, 837 So. 2d 1167, 1170 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), "it is clear that not every act or comment

that might be interpreted as demonstrating less than neutrality on the part of the judge will be deemed fundamental error."

Appellant's assertion that the court committed fundamental error by giving a "tip" to the State is without merit. See generally Chastine v. Broome, 629 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (stating that as a neutral arbiter in judicial proceedings, a trial judge "must not enter the fray by giving 'tips' to either side"). In this case, the trial judge did not "tip off" the prosecutor to an aggravating factor of which the prosecutor was unaware. Well over a year before the May 14, 2010, hearing, the prosecutor indicated that the State would likely be seeking the aggravating factor of a prior violent felony based on the contemporaneous murders. At a hearing on February 26, 2009, the prosecutor indicated that he probably would be seeking the prior violent felony aggravator based on the fact that this was a "double homicide." (V4:596-97). Certainly, Appellant's assertion that, without the trial judge's "tip," the State might have continued to overlook this aggravator is unfounded given the prosecutor's prior statements indicating the possibility of seeking this aggravator. Rather, a logical reason for the State to have not listed the aggravator was the fact that the jury had not convicted Appellant of the two murders at the time of the notice, and thus, it was

premature to list this aggravator. Regardless of the reasons for the State's failure to initially list the aggravator, Appellant was not prejudiced by the addition of the aggravator a few days later. Because the trial judge's comments were not a departure from impartiality and did not prejudice Appellant in any manner, he cannot prevail on his claim of fundamental error. Accordingly, this Court should deny the instant unpreserved claim.

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS SOUND DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL BASED ON THE PROSECUTOR'S COMMENTS DURING CLOSING ARGUMENTS.

In his final issue, Appellant argues that the prosecutor's comments during the guilt phase closing arguments violated his right to a fair trial. After defense counsel argued to the jury that he had raised a reasonable doubt based on his theory that Appellant's fingerprints found on the newspaper in the victims' home were planted by someone else, the prosecutor responded:

Now, they don't have to prove anything to you. What did they say they were going to do, raise reasonable doubt, raise reasonable doubt. Well, that newspaper, that newspaper dated the day before the crime, they're going to raise reasonable doubt. Don't you think if someone saw - someone gives him a newspaper to read the day before you would hear that testimony? You haven't heard that testimony because it doesn't exist.

(V33:1286-87, 1320). Defense counsel objected, asked for a curative instruction, and moved for a mistrial. Defense counsel asserted that the defense did not have a burden of proof and the prosecutor's comments were directed at Appellant's failure to take the stand. (V33:1329). The trial judge denied the motion for mistrial and gave a curative instruction because the comment "involved the Defendant's right to remain silent. . . . and perhaps an implication of burden shifting." (V33:1329-30). The court instructed the jury that only the State has the burden of

proof in this case, the State has to prove its case beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt, and the defense does not have any burden of proof. (V33:1321).

Following the judge's curative instruction, the prosecutor resumed his argument and stated:

The defense wants you to believe that somebody planted that newspaper. There's no evidence of that. There's no evidence whatsoever that somebody gave him a newspaper the day before and said, Put your fingerprints on here so I can plant evidence on you.

(V33:1321-22). Defense counsel again raised the same objection, and the court sustained the objection and then explained that he sustained what he thought the prosecutor may say next and that the objection was actually overruled. (V33:1322-23). Appellant now asserts that the prosecutor's subsequent remarks reinforced his earlier comments which were fairly susceptible of being interpreted by the jury as a comment on Robards' failure to testify.

The State submits that the trial court acted within its sound discretion in denying Appellant's motion for mistrial based on the prosecutor's comments.¹⁸ The law is well established

¹⁸ As noted, Appellant objected to the prosecutor's initial comment and immediately moved for a mistrial. The trial court did not rule on the objection, but denied the motion for mistrial and gave a curative instruction. Accordingly, the appropriate standard of review for a ruling on a motion for

that a motion for mistrial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and "the power to declare a mistrial and discharge the jury should be exercised with great care and should be done only in cases of absolute necessity." Ferguson v. State, 417 So. 2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1982); see also Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537, 546 (Fla. 1999). "Discretion is abused only 'when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court." Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053 n.2 (Fla. 2000) (citing Huff v. State, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990)). Furthermore, this Court has stated that "a mistrial is appropriate only when the error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial." Duest v. State, 462 So. 2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1985).

Appellant's argument that the prosecutor improperly commented on his failure to testify is without merit. Although this Court has stated the "very liberal rule" that "any comment on, or which is fairly susceptible of being interpreted as referring to, a defendant's failure to testify is error and is strongly discouraged," this court has attempted to draw a

mistrial is under an abuse of discretion standard. See <u>Dessaure</u> v. State, 891 So. 2d 455, 464-65 n.5 (Fla. 2004).

distinction between impermissible comments on silence and permissible comments on the evidence in the case. Rodriguez v. State, 753 So. 2d 29, 37 (Fla. 2000). The prosecutor's argument that the jury had not heard any evidence supporting the defense theory that someone planted evidence is a fair comment on the lack of evidentiary support for defense counsel's speculative argument. The prosecutor clearly stated to the jury that the State had the burden of proof and the defense did not "have to prove anything to you," and then argued that defense counsel's argument that he had raised a reasonable doubt was lacking because there was no evidence to support his theory that someone planted evidence. The prosecutor's comments were a permissible argument commenting on the lack of evidence supporting the defense theory.

Even if this Court finds that the prosecutor's comments were "fairly susceptible" of being interpreted as a comment on Appellant's failure to testify, the comments were not so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. The State never argued that the defense had any burden of proof, nor did the prosecutor argue that Appellant failed to testify. Rather, the prosecutor simply informed the jury that they had not heard any evidence to support the defense theory that physical evidence was planted. <u>See Serrano v. State</u>, 64 So. 3d 99, 111 (Fla. 2011)

(finding that prosecutor's argument: "You can't come up with any other theory that fits that anybody else would have done it . . . He talks about this being a professional hit. There is no evidence. There is no evidence that these crimes are any kind of professional hit," was not so prejudicial as to constitute fundamental error). Additionally, after denying the motion for mistrial, the trial court gave a curative instruction to the jury. (V33:1320-21); <u>see Jackson v. State</u>, 702 So. 2d 607 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) (ruling that prosecutor's comment during argument was improper, but the court's curative instruction cured any potential harm and the error was harmless). Because the trial court acted within its sound discretion in denying Appellant's motion for mistrial, this Court should affirm the court's ruling.

Appellant additionally argues that this Court should reverse his convictions and remand for a new trial based on the cumulative effect of the prosecutor's comments, including an unobjected-to comment by the prosecutor that the Clearwater Police Department did a great deal of work in investigating this case:

Think about it, all the evidence, all the work that they did during this investigation. And we didn't even show you all of it. We would have been here forever. You know how hard they worked this case. And it was their hard work and their evidence and their

efforts that found all of this evidence and put this case together.

(V32:1233) (emphasis added). As this Court has previously held, a timely objection puts the trial court and the prosecutor on notice that a line of argument is objectionable or is breaching the bounds of propriety. It also provides the trial court the opportunity to admonish the prosecutor or remedy the situation through a curative instruction. <u>See Card v. State</u>, 803 So. 2d 613, 622 (Fla. 2001). Regarding unobjected-to comments, this Court noted in <u>Card</u>, that a contemporaneous objection is required to preserve an issue surrounding a prosecutor's comments during closing argument. This Court stated:

a general rule, the failure to raise As а contemporaneous objection when improper closing argument comments are made waives any claim concerning such comments for appellate review. See, e.g., Brooks v. State, 762 So. 2d 879, 898 (Fla. 2000); McDonald v. State, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999). A timely objection allows the trial court an opportunity to give a curative instruction or to admonish counsel for making an improper argument. See Nixon v. State, 572 So. 2d 1336, 1341 (Fla. 1990). The exception to the contemporaneous objection rule is where the unobjected-to comments rise to the level of fundamental error, which has been defined as error that reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of quilty or jury recommendation of death could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error. See McDonald, 743 So. 2d at 505 (quoting Urbin, 714 So. 2d at 418 n.8); Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186, 191 n.5 (Fla. 1997) (holding that for an error to be raised for the first time on appeal, the error must be so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial).

In order for Appellant to obtain relief based on the unobjected-to comments, he must establish that the prosecutor's comments rise to the level of fundamental error. Here, the prosecutor's comments that he did not show the jury all the evidence obtained by the Clearwater Police Department was not so prejudicial as to constitute fundamental error. When viewed in prosecutor's argument was context, the addressing the substantial amount of work performed by the detectives and crime scene personnel in this case, all of which pointed to Appellant as the person responsible for the murders. Although inartfully stated, the prosecutor's comments did not "reach[] down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Archer v. State, 934 So. 2d 1187, 1205 (Fla. (quoting Kilgore v. State, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 2006) (Fla. 1997)). Accordingly, because none of the comments mentioned in Appellant's brief, either alone or collectively, rise to the level of fundamental error, this Court should deny the instant claim.

SUPPLEMENTAL ISSUES

THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT APPELLANT'S CONVICTIONS FOR THE TWO MURDERS AND HIS DEATH SENTENCE IS PROPORTIONATE.

Although not raised on appeal by Robards' appellate counsel, the State will briefly address the sufficiency of the evidence in the instant case, as well as, the proportionality of Appellant's death sentences. As this Court recently stated in Baker v. State, 71 So. 3d 802, 824 (Fla. 2011):

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